Uniform Rules Concerning the Contract for International Carriage of Goods by Rail (CIM)

CIM

copy @ lexmercatoria.org

Copyright © [CIM]

Contents

Uniform Rules Concerning the Contract for International Carriage of Goods by Rail (CIM)	1
Title 1 - General Provisions	1
Article 1 - Scope	1
Article 2 - Exceptions from scope	1
Article 3 - Obligation to carry	1
Article 4 - Articles not acceptable for carriage	2
Article 5 - Articles acceptable for carriage subject to conditions	2
Article 6 - Tariffs. Private agreements	3
Article 7 - Unit of Account. Rate of exchange or of acceptance of foreign currency	4
Article 8 - Special provisions for certain types of transport	5
Article 9 - Supplementary provision	6
Article 10 - National law	6
	•
Title II - Making and Execution of the Contract of Carriage	6
Article 11 - Making of the contract of carriage	6
Article 12 - Consignment note	7
Article 13 - Wording of the Consignment Note	7
Article 14 - Route and tariffs applicable	8
Article 15 - Payment of charges	9
	11
	11
Article 18 - Responsibility for particulars furnished in the consignment note .	12
Article 19 - Condition, packing and marking of goods	12
Article 20 - Handing over of goods for carriage and loading of goods	13
Article 21 - Verification	13
Article 22 - Ascertainment of weight and number of packages	14
Article 23 - Overloading	14
Article 24 - Surcharges	15
Article 25 - Documents for completion of administrative formalities. Custom	
	16
	17
•	18
Article 28 - Delivery	20
-	21
	21
, S	21
<i>y</i> 5	22
Article 32 - Execution of subsequent orders	23
	24
Article 34 - Circumstances preventing delivery	25

Title IV - Liability	26
Article 35 - Collective responsibility of railways	26
Article 36 - Extent of liability	26
Article 37 - Burden of Proof	27
Article 38 - Presumption in case of reconsignment	27
Article 39 - Presumption of loss of goods	27
Article 40 - Compensation for loss	28
Article 41 - Liability for wastage in transit	28
Article 42 - Compensation for damage	29
Article 43 - Compensation for exceeding the transit period	29
Article 44 - Compensation in case of wilful misconduct or gross negligence	30
Article 45 - Limitation of compensation under certain tariffs	30
Article 46 - Compensation in case of interest in delivery	30
Article 47 - Interest on compensation	30
Article 48 - Liability in respect of rail-sea traffic	31
Article 49 - Liability in case of nuclear incidents	32
Article 50 - Liability of the railway for its servants	32
Article 51 - Other actions	32
Title V - Assertion of Rights Article 52 - Ascertainment of partial loss or damage Article 53 - Claims Article 53 - Claims Article 54 - Persons who may bring an action against the railway Article 55 - Railways against which an action may be brought Article 56 - Competence Article 57 - Extinction of right of action against the railway Article 58 - Limitation of action	32 32 33 33 34 34 34 34 35
Title VI - Relations between Railways Article 59 - Settlement of accounts between railways Article 60 - Recourse in case of loss or damage Article 61 - Recourse in case of exceeding the transit period Article 62 - Procedure for recourse Article 63 - Competence for recourse Article 64 - Agreements concerning recourse	36 37 37 38 39 39
Title VII - Exceptional Provisions Article 65 - Temporary derogations Article 66 - Derogations	39 39 40
ANNEX I - (Articles 4 and 5) Annex I	40 40
ANNEX II - (Article 8, 1)	40
	40 40

ANNEX III - (Article 8, 2) Annex III	41 41
ANNEX IV - (Article 8, 3)	41
Annex IV	41
Metadata	42
SiSU Metadata, document information	42

Uniform Rules Concerning the Contract for International Carriage of Goods by Rail (CIM)

Title 1 - General Provisions

Article 1 - Scope

1. Subject to the exceptions provided for in Article 2, the Uniform Rules shall apply to all consignments of goods for carriage under a through consignment note made out for a route over the territories of at least two States and exclusively over lines or services included in the list provided for in Articles 3 and 10 of the Convention.

2. In the Uniform Rules the expression `station" covers: railway stations, ports used by shipping services and all other establishments of transport undertakings, open to the public for the execution of the contract of carriage.

Article 2 - Exceptions from scope

1. Consignments between sending and destination stations situated in the territory of ⁷ the same State, which pass through the territory of another State only in transit, shall not be subject to the Uniform Rules:

(a) if the lines or services over which the transit occurs are exclusively operated by a srailway of the State of departure; or

(b) if the States or the railways concerned have agreed not to regard such consignments as international.

2. Consignments between stations in two adjacent States and between stations in ¹⁰ two States in transit through the territory of a third State shall, if the lines over which the consignments are carried are exclusively operated by a railway of one of those three States, be subject to the internal traffic regulations applicable to that railway if the sender, by using the appropriate consignment note, so elects and where there is nothing to the contrary in the laws and regulations of any of the States concerned.

Article 3 - Obligation to carry

11

2

3

6

1. The railway shall be bound to undertake all carriage of any goods in complete wagonloads, subject to the terms of the Uniform Rules, provided that:

(a) the sender complies with the Uniform Rules, the supplementary provisions and the tariffs;

(b) carriage can be undertaken by the normal staff and transport resources which suffice 14 to meet usual traffic requirements;

(c) carriage is not prevented by circumstances which the railway cannot avoid and which ¹⁵ it is not in a position to remedy.

2. The railway shall not be obliged to accept goods of which the loading, trans-shipment or unloading requires the use of special facilities unless the stations concerned have such facilities at their disposal.

3. The railway shall only be obliged to accept goods the carriage of which can take ¹⁷ place without delay; the provisions in force at the forwarding station shall determine the circumstances in which goods not complying with that condition must be temporarily stored.

4. When the competent authority decides that:	18
(a) a service shall be discontinued or suspended totally or partially,	19
(b) certain consignments shall be refused or accepted only subject to conditions,	20

these measures shall, without delay, be brought to the notice of the public and the ²¹ railways; the latter shall inform the railways of the other States with a view to their publication.

5. The railways may, by joint agreement, concentrate goods traffic between certain places on specified frontier points and transit countries. These measures shall be notified to the Central Office. They shall be entered by the railways in special lists, published in the manner laid down for international tariffs, and shall come into force one month after the date of notification to the Central Office.

6. Any contravention of this Article by the railway may constitute a cause of action for ²³ compensation for loss or damage caused.

Article 4 - Articles not acceptable for carriage

The following shall not be accepted for carriage:

(a) articles the carriage of which is prohibited in any one of the territories in which the ²⁶ articles would be carried;

(b) articles the carriage of which is a monopoly of the postal authorities in any one of ²⁷ the territories in which the articles would be carried;

(c) articles which, by reason of their dimensions, their mass*, or their packaging, are not suitable for the carriage proposed, having regard to the installations or rolling stock of any one of the railways which would be used;

(d) substances and articles which are not acceptable for carriage under the Regulations ²⁹ concerning the international carriage of dangerous goods by rail (RID), Annex 1 to the Uniform Rules, subject to the exceptions provided for in Article 5, 2.

Article 5 - Articles acceptable for carriage subject to conditions

- 1. The following shall be acceptable for carriage subject to conditions:
- (a) substances and articles acceptable for carriage subject to the conditions laid down $_{\ 32}$

24

in the RID or in the agreements and tariff clauses provided for in 2.

(b) funeral consignments, railway rolling stock running on its own wheels, live animals and consignments the carriage of which presents special difficulties by reason of their dimensions, their mass or their packaging: subject to the conditions laid down in the supplementary provisions; these may derogate from the Uniform Rules. Live animals must be accompanied by an attendant provided by the consignor. Nevertheless an attendant shall not be required when the international tariffs permit or when the railways participating in the carriage so permit at the consignor's request; in such cases, unless there is an agreement to the contrary, the railway shall not be liable for any loss or damage resulting from any risk which the attendant was intended to avert.

2. Two or more States, by agreement, or two or more railways, by tariff clauses, may ³⁴ jointly determine the conditions with which certain substances or articles not acceptable for carriage under the RID must comply if they are nevertheless to be accepted. States or railways may, in the same manner, make the conditions for acceptance laid down in the RID less rigorous. Such agreements and tariff clauses must be published and notified to the Central Office which will bring them to the notice of the States.

Article 6 - Tariffs. Private agreements

1. Carriage charges, whether or not calculated separately for different sections of the route, and supplementary charges shall be calculated in accordance with the tariffs which are legally in force and duly published in each State which are applicable at the time when the contract of carriage is made.

2. The tariffs must indicate all the special conditions applicable to the carriage, in particular the information necessary for calculating carriage and supplementary charges and, where appropriate, the conditions governing the conversion of currencies. The conditions of the tariffs may not derogate from the Uniform Rules unless the latter expressly so provide.

3. The tariffs must be applied to all users on the same conditions.

4. Railways may enter into private agreements for reduced charges or other concessions, provided that comparable conditions are granted to users in comparable circumstances. Reductions in charges or other concessions may be granted for the purpose of railway or public services, or for charitable purposes. Publication of the measures taken under the first and second subparagraphs shall not be compulsory.

5. International tariffs may be declared compulsorily applicable in international traffic ⁴⁰ to the exclusion of the internal tariffs. The application of an international tariff may be made conditional on there being an express request for it in the consignment note.

6. The tariffs and amendments to the tariffs shall be regarded as duly published from ⁴¹ the time when the railway makes all the details thereof available to the users. The publication of international tariffs shall be compulsory only in those States whose railways are parties to such tariffs as railways of departure or destination.

35

7. Increases in international tariff charges and any other provisions which would have the effect of making the conditions of carriage laid down by such tariffs more rigorous shall not come into force until at least fifteen days after their publication, except in the following cases:

(a) if an international tariff makes provision for the extension of an internal tariff to ⁴³ cover the whole route, the periods for publication of such internal tariff shall be applicable;

(b) if increases in the charges contained in an international tariff follow a general increase in the charges contained in the internal tariffs of a participating railway, they shall come into force on the day after their publication, on condition that the adjustment of the international tariff charges caused by such general increase has been announced at least fifteen days in advance; nevertheless, such announcement may not be made prior to the publication of the increase in the internal tariff charges in question;

(c) if the carriage and supplementary charges provided for in the international tariffs ⁴⁵ have to be modified to take account of fluctuations in rates of exchange or if obvious errors have to be corrected, such adjustments and corrections shall come into force on the day after their publication.

8. In States where there is no obligation to publish certain tariffs or to apply them to all users under the same conditions, the provisions of this Article, to the extent that they contain such an obligation, shall not be binding.

9. The railways may not charge any amount over and above the carriage and supplementary charges laid down in the tariffs other than the amounts disbursed by them. Such amounts shall be duly noted and entered separately in the consignment note, together with any relevant supporting information. When this information is provided in documents attached to the consignment note and if the corresponding amounts are to be paid by the consignor, the documents shall not be delivered to the consignee with the consignment note, but shall be forwarded to the consignor with the account of charges referred to in Article 15, 7.

Article 7 - Unit of Account. Rate of exchange or of acceptance of foreign currency

1. The unit of account referred to in the Uniform Rules shall be the Special Drawing ⁴⁹ Right as defined by the International Monetary Fund. The value in Special Drawing Right of the national currency of a State which is a Member of the International Monetary Fund shall be calculated in accordance with the method of valuation applied by the International Monetary Fund for its own operations and transactions.

2. The value in Special Drawing Right of the national currency of a State which is ⁵⁰ not a member of the International Monetary Fund shall be calculated by the method determined by that State. The calculation must express in the national currency a real value approximating as closely to that which would result from the application of 1.

3. In the case of a State which is not a member of the International Monetary Fund and whose legislation does not permit the application of 1 or 2 above, the unit of account referred to in the Uniform Rules shall be deemed to be equal to three gold francs. The gold franc is defined as 10/31 of a gramme of gold of millesimal fineness 900. The conversion of the gold franc must express in the national currency a real value approximating as closely to that which would result from the application of 1.

4. Within three months after the entry into force of the Convention and each time that a change occurs in their method of calculation or in the value of their national currency in relation to the unit of account, States shall notify the Central Office of their method of calculation in accordance with 2, or of the results of the conversion in accordance with 3. The Central Office shall notify the States of this information.

5. The railway shall publish the rates at which:

(a) it converts sums expressed in foreign currencies but payable in domestic currency (rates of conversion);

(b) It accepts payment in foreign currencies (rates of acceptance).

Article 8 - Special provisions for certain types of transport

1. In the case of the haulage of privately owned wagons, special provisions are laid down in the Regulations concerning the international haulage of private owners' wagons by rail (RIP), Annex II to the Uniform Rules.

2. In the case of the carriage of containers, special provisions are laid down in the ⁵⁸ Regulations concerning the international carriage of containers by rail (RICo), Annex III to the Uniform Rules.

3. In the case of express parcels traffic, railways may, by tariff clauses, agree on special provisions in accordance with the Regulations concerning the international carriage of express parcels by rail (RIEx), Annex IV to the Uniform Rules.

4. Two or more States, by special agreement, or two or more railways by supplementary provisions or by tariff clauses, may agree on terms derogating from the Uniform Rules for the following types of consignments:

(a) consignments under cover of a negotiable document;

(b) consignments to be delivered only against return of the duplicate of the consignment ⁶² note;

(c) consignments of newspapers;
(d) consignment intended for fairs or exhibitions;

(e) consignment of loading tackle and of equipment for protection of goods in transit against heat or cold;

(f) consignments over all or part of the route under cover of consignment notes which ⁶⁶ are not used for charging and billing;

53

55

56

(g) consignments sent under cover of an instrument suitable for automatic data trans- 67 mission.

Article 9 - Supplementary provision

1. Two or more States or two or more railways may make supplementary provisions ⁶⁹ for the execution of the Uniform Rules. They may not derogate from the Uniform Rules unless the latter expressly so provide.

2. The supplementary provisions shall be put into force and published in the manner required by the laws and regulations of each State. The Central Office shall be notified of the supplementary provisions and of their coming into force.

Article 10 - National law

71

74

75

68

1. In the absence of provisions in the Uniform Rules, supplementary provisions or 72 international tariffs, national law shall apply.

2. "National law" means the law of the State in which the person entitled asserts his ⁷³ rights, including the rules relating to conflict of laws.

Title II - Making and Execution of the Contract of Carriage

Article 11 - Making of the contract of carriage

1. The contract of carriage shall come into existence as soon as the forwarding railway has accepted the goods for carriage together with the consignment note. Acceptance is established by the application to the consignment note and, where appropriate, to each additional sheet, of the stamp of the forwarding station, or accounting machine entry, showing the date of acceptance.

2. The procedure laid down in 1 must be carried out immediately after all the goods to which the consignment note relates have been handed over for carriage and - where the provisions in force at the forwarding station so require - such charges as the consignor has undertaken to pay have been paid or a security deposited in accordance with Article 15, 7. The procedure shall be carried out in the presence of the consignor if he so requests.

3. When the stamp has been affixed or the accounting machine entry has been made, ⁷⁸ the consignment note shall be evidence of the making and content of the contract.

4. Nevertheless, when the loading of the goods is the duty of the consignor in accordance with tariffs or agreements existing between him and the railway, and provided that such agreements are authorised at the forwarding station, the particulars in the consignment note relating to the mass of the goods or to the number of packages shall only be evidence against the railway when that weight or number of packages has been verified by the railway and certified in the consignment note. If necessary these particulars may be proved by other means. If it is obvious that there is no actual deficiency corresponding to the discrepancy between the mass or number of packages and the particulars in the consignment note, the latter shall not be evidence against the railway. This shall apply in particular when the wagon is handed over to the consignee with the original seals intact.

5. The railway shall certify receipt of the goods and the date of acceptance for carriage by affixing the date stamp to or making the accounting machine entry on the duplicate of the consignment note before returning the duplicate to the consignor. The duplicate shall not have effect as the consignment note accompanying the goods, nor as a bill of lading.

Article 12 - Consignment note

1. The consignor shall present a consignment note duly completed. A separate consignment note shall be made out for each consignment. One and the same consignment note may not relate to more than a single wagon load. The supplementary provisions may derogate from these rules.

2. The railways shall prescribe, for both petite vitesse and grande vitesse traffic, a standard form of consignment note, which must include a duplicate for the consignor. The choice of consignment note by the consignor shall indicate whether the goods are to be carried by petite vitesse or by grande vitesse. A request for grande vitesse over one part of the route and petite vitesse over the remainder will not be allowed except by agreement between all the railways concerned. In the case of certain traffic, notably between adjacent countries, the railways may prescribe, in the tariffs, the use of a simplified form of consignment note.

3. The consignment note must be printed in two or where necessary in three languages, at least one of which shall be one of the working languages of the Organisation. International tariffs may determine the language in which the particulars to be filled in by the consignor in the consignment note shall be entered. In the absence of such provisions, they must be entered in one of the official languages of the State of departure and a translation in one of the working languages of the Organisation must be added unless the particulars have been entered in one of those languages. The particulars entered by the consignor in the consignment note shall be in Roman lettering, save where the supplementary provisions or international tariffs otherwise provide.

Article 13 - Wording of the Consignment Note	85
1. The consignment note must contain:	86
(a) the name of the destination station;	87
(b) the name and address of the consignee; only one individual or legal person shall be shown as consignee;	88

(c) the description of the goods;

(d) the mass, or failing that, comparable information in accordance with the provisions ⁹⁰ in force at the forwarding station;

(e) the number of packages and a description of the packing in the case of consignments ⁹¹ in less than wagon loads, and in the case of complete wagon loads comprising one or more packages, forwarded by rail-sea and requiring to be trans-shipped;

(f) the number of the wagon and also, for privately-owned wagons, the tare, in the case ⁹² of goods where the loading is the duty of the consignor;

(g) a detailed list of the documents which are required by Customs or other administrative authorities and are attached to the consignment note or shown as held at the disposal of the railway at a named station or at an office of the Customs or of any other authority;

(h) the name and address of the consignor; only one individual or legal person shall ⁹⁴ be shown as the consignor; if the provisions in force at the forwarding station so require, the consignor shall add to his name and address his written, printed or stamped signature.

The provisions in force at the forwarding station shall determine the meanings of the ⁹⁵ terms "wagon load" and "less than wagon load" for the whole of the route.

2. The consignment note must, where appropriate, contain all the other particulars ⁹⁶ provided for in the Uniform Rules. It shall not contain other particulars unless they are required or allowed by the laws and regulations of a State, the supplementary provisions or the tariffs, and are not contrary to the Uniform Rules.

3. Nevertheless, the consignor may insert in the consignment note in the space set ⁹⁷ apart for the purpose, but as information for the consignee, remarks relating to the consignment, without involving the railway in any obligation or liability.

4. The consignment note shall not be replaced by other documents or supplemented ⁹⁸ by documents other than those prescribed or allowed by the Uniform Rules, the supplementary provisions or the tariffs.

Article 14 - Route and tariffs applicable

1. The consignor may stipulate in the consignment note the route to be followed, indicating it by reference to frontier points or frontier stations and where appropriate, to transit stations between railways. He may only stipulate frontier points and frontier stations which are open to traffic between the forwarding and destination places concerned.

2. The following shall be regarded as routing instructions:

(a) designation of stations where formalities required by Customs or other administrative authorities are to be carried out, and of stations where special care is to be given to the goods (attention to animals, re-icing etc.);

99

101

(b) designation of the tariffs to be applied, if this is sufficient to determine the stations ¹⁰³ between which the tariffs requested are to be applied;

(c) instructions as to the payment of the whole or a part of the charges up to X (X $_{104}$ indicating by name the point at which the tariffs of adjacent countries are applied).

3. Except in the cases specified in Article 3, 4 and 5 and Article 33, 1 the railway may not carry the goods by a route other than that stipulated by the consignor unless both:

(a) the formalities required by Customs or other administrative authorities, as well as the special care to be given to the goods, will in any event be carried out at the stations indicated by the consignor; and

(b) the charges and the transit periods will not be greater than the charges and transit periods calculated according to the route stipulated by the consignor.

Sub-paragraph (a) shall not apply to consignments in less than wagon loads if one of the participating railways is unable to adhere to the route chosen by the consignor by virtue of the routing instructions arising from its arrangements for the international carriage of consignments in less than wagon loads.

4. Subject to the provisions of 3, the charges and transit periods shall be calculated ¹⁰⁹ according to the route stipulated by the consignor or, in the absence of any such indication, according to the route chosen by the railway.

5. The consignor may stipulate in the consignment note which tariffs are to be applied. ¹¹⁰ The railway must apply such tariffs if the conditions laid down for their application have been fulfilled.

6. If the instructions given by the consignor are not sufficient to indicate the route or tariffs to be appleid, or if any of those instructions are inconsistent with one another, the railway shall choose the route or tariffs which appear to it to be the most advantageous to the consignor.

7. The railway shall not be liable for any loss or damage suffered as a result of the ¹¹² choice made in accordance with 6, except in the case of wilful misconduct or gross negligence.

8. If an international tariff exists from the forwarding to the destination station and if, in the absence of adequate instructions from the consignor, the railway has applied that tariff, the railway shall, at the request of the person entitled, refund him the difference between the carriage charges thus applied and those which the application of other tariffs would have produced over the same route, when such difference exceeds four units of account per consignment note. The same shall apply if, in the absence of adequate instructions from the consignor, the railway has applied consecutive tariffs, even though there is an international tariff offering a more advantageous charge, all other conditions being the same.

Article 15 - Payment of charges

114

1. The charges (carriage charges, supplementary charges, Customs duties and other 115

charges incurred from the time of acceptance for carriage to the time of delivery) shall be paid by the consignor or the consignee in accordance with the following provisions. In applying these provisions, charges which, according to the applicable tariff, must be added to the standard rates or special rates when calculating the carriage charges, shall be deemed to be carriage charges.

2. A consignor who undertakes to pay a part or all of the charges shall indicate this on the consignment note by using one of the following phrases:

(a) (i) "carriage charges paid", if he undertakes to pay carriage charges only;

117

(ii) "carriage charges paid including …", if he undertakes to pay charges additional to those for carriage; he shall give an exact description of those charges; additional indications, which may relate only to the supplementary charges or other charges incurred from the time of acceptance for carriage until the time of delivery as well as to sums collected either by Customs or other administrative authorities shall not result in any division of the total amount of any one category of charges (for example, the total amount of Customs duties and of other amounts payable to Customs, value added tax being regarded as a separate category);

(iii) "carriage charges paid to X" (X indicating by name the point at which the tariffs of adjacent countries are applied), if he undertakes to pay carriage charges to X;

(iv) "carriage charges paid to X including …" (X indicating by name the point at which the tariffs of adjacent countries are applied), if he undertakes to pay charges additional to those for carriage to X, but excluding all charges relating to the subsequent country or railway; the provisions of (ii) shall apply analogously;

(b) "all charges paid", if he undertakes to pay all charges (carriage charges, supple- ¹²¹ mentary charges, Customs duties and other charges);

(c) "charges paid not exceeding …", if he undertakes to pay a fixed sum; save where the tariffs otherwise provide, this sum shall be expressed in the currency of the country of departure. Supplementary and other charges which, according to the provisions in forceat the forwarding station, are to be calculated for the whole of the route concerned, and the charge for interest in delivery laid down in Article 16, 2, shall always be paid in full by the consignor in the case of payment of the charges in accordance with (a) (iv).

3. The international tariffs may, as regards payment of charges, prescribe the exclusive use of certain phrases set out in 2 of this Article or the use of other phrases.

4. The charges which the consignor has not undertaken to pay shall be deemd to be payable by the consignee. Nevertheless, such charges shall be payable by the consignor if the consignee has not taken possession of the consignment note nor asserted his rights under Article 28, 4, nor modified the contract of carriage in accordance with Article 31.

5. Supplementary charges, such as charges for demurrage and standage, warehousing ¹²⁵ and weighing, which arise from an act attributable to the consignee or from a request which he has made, shall always be paid by him.

6. The forwarding railway may require the consignor to prepay the charges in the case 126 of goods which in its opinion are liable to undergo rapid deterioration or which, by reason of their low value or their nature, do not provide sufficient cover for such charges.

7. If the amount of the charges which the consignor undertakes to pay cannot be ascertained exactly at the time the goods are handed over for carriage, such charges shall be entered in a charges note and a settlement of accounts shall be made with the consignor not later than thirty days after the expiry of the transit period. The railway may require as security a deposit approximating to the amount of such charges, for which a receipt shall be given. A detailed account of charges drawn up from the particulars in the charges note shall be delivered to the consignor in return for the receipt.

8. The forwarding station shall specify, in the consignment note and in the duplicate, ¹²⁸ the charges which have been prepaid, unless the provisions in force at the forwarding station provide that those charges are only to be specified in the duplicate. In the case provided for in 7 of this Article these charges are not to be specified either in the consignment note or in the duplicate.

Article 16 - Interest in delivery

1. Any consignment may be the subject of a declaration of interest in delivery. The amount declared shall be shown in figures in the consignment note in the currency of the country of departure, in another currency determined by the tariffs or in units of account.

2. The charge for interest in delivery shall be calculated for the whole of the route 131 concerned, in accordance with the tariffs of the forwarding railway.

Article 17 - Cash on delivery and disbursements

1. The consignor may make the goods subject to a cash on delivery payment not exceeding their value at the time of acceptance at the forwarding station. The amount of such cash on delivery payment shall be expressed in the currency of the country of departure; the tariffs may provide for exceptions.

2. The railway shall not be obliged to pay over any amount representing a cash on ¹³⁴ delivery payment unless the amount in question has been paid by the consignee. That amount shall be placed at the consignor's disposal within thirty days of payment by the consignee; interest at five per cent per annum shall be payable from the date of the expiry of that period.

3. If the goods have been delivered, wholly or in part, to the consignee without prior ¹³⁵ collection of the amount of the cash on delivery payment, the railway shall pay the consignor the amount of any loss or damage sustained up to the total amount of the cash on delivery payment without prejudice to any right of recovery from the consignee.

4. Cash on delivery consignment shall be subject to a collection fee laid down in the 136

129

tariffs; such fee shall be payable notwithstanding cancellation or reduction of the amount of the cash on delivery payment by modification of the contract of carriage in accordance with Article 30, 1.

5. Disbursements shall only be allowed if made in accordance with the provisions in ¹³⁷ force at the forwarding station.

6. The amounts of the cash on delivery payment and of disbursements shall be entered ¹³⁸ in figures on the consignment note.

Article 18 - Responsibility for particulars furnished in the consignment note

The consignor shall be responsible for the correctness of the particulars inserted by, ¹⁴⁰ or for, him, in the consignment note. He shall bear all the consequences in the event of those particulars being irregular, incorrect, incomplete, or not entered in the allotted space. If that space is insufficient, the consignor shall indicate therein the place in the consignment note where the rest of the particulars are to be found.

Article 19 - Condition, packing and marking of goods

1. When the railway accepts for carriage goods showing obvious signs of damage, it may require the condition of such goods to be indicated in the consignment note.

2. When the nature of the goods is such as to require packing, the consignor shall pack them in such a way as to protect them from total or partial loss and from damage in transit and to avoid risk of injury or damage to persons, equipment or other goods. Moreover the packing shall comply with the provisions in force at the forwarding station.

3. If the consignor has not complied with the provisions of 2, the railway may either ¹⁴⁴ refuse the goods or require the sender to acknowledge in the consignment note the absence of packing or the defective condition of the packing, with an exact description thereof.

4. The consignor shall be liable for all the consequences of the absence of packing or ¹⁴⁵ defective condition of packing and shall in particular make good any loss or damage suffered by the railway from this cause. In the absence of any particulars in the consignment note, the burden of proof of such absence of packing or defective condition of the packing shall rest upon the railway.

5. Save where the tariffs otherwise provide, the consignor of a consignment amounting to less than a wagon load shall indicate on each package or on a label approved by the railway in a clear and indelible manner which will avoid confusion and correspond exactly with the particulars in the consignment note:

(a) the name and address of the consignee;

(b) the destination station.

147

139

141

The details required under (a) and (b) above shall also be shown on each article or ¹⁴⁹ package comprised in a wagon load forwarded by rail/sea and requiring to be transshipped. Old markings or labels shall be obliterated or removed by the consignor.

6. Save where the supplementary provisions or the tariffs otherwise provide, goods ¹⁵⁰ which are fragile or may become scattered in wagons and goods which may taint or damage other goods shall be carried only in complete wagon loads, unless packed or fastened together in such a manner that they cannot become broken or lost, or taint or damage other goods.

Article 20 - Handing over of goods for carriage and loading of goods

1. The handing over of goods for carriage shall be governed by the provisions in force 152 at the forwarding station.

2. Loading shall be the duty of the railway or the consignor according to the provisions ¹⁵³ in force at the forwarding station, unless otherwise provided in the Uniform Rules or unless the consignment note includes a reference to a special agreement between the consignor and the railway. When the loading is the responsibility of the consignor, he shall comply with the load limit. If different load limits are in force on the lines traversed, the lowest load limit shall be applicable to the whole route. The provisions laying down load limits shall be published in the same manner as tariffs. If the consignor so requests, the railway shall inform him of the permitted load limit.

3. The consignor shall be liable for all the consequences of defective loading carried out ¹⁵⁴ by him and shall, in particular, make good any loss or damage suffered by the railway through this cause. Nevertheless Article 15 shall apply to the payment of costs arising from the reloading of goods in the event of defective loading. The burden of proof of defective loading shall rest upon the railway.

4. Unless otherwise provided in the Uniform Rules, goods shall be carried in covered ¹⁵⁵ wagons, open wagons, sheeted open wagons or specially equipped wagons according to the international tariffs. If there are no international tariffs, or if they do not contain any provisions on the subject, the provisions in force at the forwarding station shall apply throughout the whole of the route.

5. The affixing of seals to wagons shall be governed by the provisions in force at the ¹⁵⁶ forwarding station. The consignor shall indicate in the consignment note the number and description of the seals affixed to the wagons by him.

Article 21 - Verification

157

151

1. The railway shall always have the right to verify that the consignment corresponds ¹⁵⁸ with the particulars furnished in the consignment note by the consignor and that the provisions relating to the carriage of goods accepted subject to conditions have been complied with.

2. If the contents of the consignment are examined for this purpose, the consignor ¹⁵⁹ or the consignee, according to whether the verification takes place at the forwarding station or the destination station, shall be invited to be present. Should the interested party not attend, or should the verification take place in transit, it shall be carried out in the presence of two witnesses not connected with the railway, unless the laws or regulations of the State where the verification takes place provide otherwise. The railway may not, however, carry out the verification in transit unless compelled to do so by operational necessities or by the requirements of the Customs or of other administrative authorities.

3. The result of the verification of the particulars in the consignment note shall be entered therein. If verification takes place at the forwarding station, the result shall also be recorded in the duplicate of the consignment note if it is held by the railway. If the consignment does not correspond with the particulars in the consignment note or if the provisions relating to the carriage of goods accepted subject to conditions have not been complied with, the costs of the verification shall be charged against the goods, unless paid at the time.

Article 22 - Ascertainment of weight and number of packages

1. The provisions in force in each State shall determine the circumstances in which the railway must ascertain the mass of the goods or the number of packages and the actual tare of the wagons. The railway shall enter in the consignment note the results ascertained.

2. If weighing by the railway, after the contract of carriage has been made, reveals a difference, the mass ascertained by the forwarding station or, failing that, the mass declared by the consignor, shall still be the basis for calculating the carriage charges:

(a) if the difference is manifestly due to the nature of the goods or to atmospheric con- $_{\rm 164}$ ditions; or

(b) the weighing takes place on a weighbridge and does not reveal a difference exceeding two per cent of the mass ascertained by the forwarding station or, failing that, of that declared by the consignor.

Article 23 - Overloading

1. When overloading of a wagon is established by the forwarding station or by an intermediate station, the excess load may be removed from the wagon even if no surcharge is payable. Where necessary the consignor or, if the contract of carriage has been modified in accordance with Article 31, the consignee shall be asked without delay to give instructions concerning the excess load.

2. Without prejudice to the payment of surcharges under Article 24, the excess load shall be charged for the distance covered in accordance with the carriage charges applicable to the main load. If the excess load is unloaded, the charge for unloading shall

SiSU

161

be determined by the tariffs of the railway which carries out the unloading. If the person entitled directs that the excess load be forwarded to the same destination station as the main load or to another destination station, or directs that it be returned to the forwarding station, the excess load shall be treated as a separate consignment.

Article 24 - Surcharges

169

175

1. Without prejudice to the railway's entitlement to the difference in carriage charges 170 and to compensation for any possible loss or damage, the railway may impose:

(a) a surcharge equal to one unit of account per kilogramme of gross mass of the whole package;

(i) in the case of irregular, incorrect or incomplete description of substances and articles not acceptable for carriage under the RID;

(ii) in the case of irregular, incorrect or incomplete description of substances and articles ¹⁷³ which under the RID are acceptable for carriage subject to conditions, or in the case of failure to observe such conditions;

(b) a surcharge equal to five units of account per 100 kilogrammes of mass in excess ¹⁷⁴ of the load limit, where the wagon has been loaded by the consignor;

(c) a surcharge equal to twice the difference:

(i) between the carriage charge which should have been payable from the forwarding station to the destination station and that which had been charged, in the case of irregular, incorrect or incomplete description of goods other than those referred to in (a), or in general where the description of the consignment would enable it to be carried at a lower tariff than the one that is actually applicable;

(ii) between the carriage charge for the mass declared and that for the ascertained 177 mass, where the mass declared is less than the real mass.

When a consignment is composed of goods charged at different rates and their mass ¹⁷⁸ can be separately determined without difficulty, the surcharge shall be calculated on the basis of the rates respectively applicable to such goods if this method of calculation results in a lower surcharge.

2. Should there be both an under-declaration of mass and overloading in respect of 179 one and the same wagon, the surcharges payable in respect thereof shall be cumulative.

3. The surcharges shall be charged against the goods irrespective of the place where the facts giving rise to the surcharges were established.

4. The amount of the surcharges and the reason for imposing them must be entered in the consignment note.

5. No surcharge shall be due in the case of:

(a) an incorrect declaration of mass, if the railway is bound to weigh the goods under 183

182

SiSU

the provisions in force at the forwarding station;

(b) an incorrect declaration of mass, or overloading, if the consignor has requested in the consignment note that the railway should weigh the goods;

(c) overloading arising in the course of carriage from atmospheric conditions if it is proved that the load on the wagon did not exceed the load limit when it was consigned;

(d) an increase in mass during carriage, without overloading, if it is proved that the 186 increase was due to atmospheric conditions;

(e) an incorrect declaration of mass, without overloading, if the difference between the mass indicated in the consignment note and the ascertained mass does not exceed three per cent of the declared mass;

(f) overloading of a wagon when the railway has neither published nor informed the 188 consignor of the load limit in a way which would enable him to observe it.

Article 25 - Documents for completion of administrative formalities. Custom 189 seals

1. The consignor must attach to the consignment note the documents necessary for the completion of formalities required by Customs or other administrative authorities before delivery of the goods. Such documents shall relate only to goods which are the subject of one and the same consignment note, unless otherwise provided by the requirements of Customs or of other administrative authorities or by the tariffs. However, when these documents are not attached to the consignment note or if they are to be provided by the consignee, the consignor shall indicate in the consignment note the station, the Customs office or the office of any other authority where the respective documents will be made available to the railway and where the formalities must be completed. If the consignor will himself be present or be represented by an agent when the formalities required by Customs or other administrative authorities are carried out, it will suffice for the documents to be produced at the time when those formalities are carried out.

2. The railway shall not be obliged to check whether the documents furnished are ¹⁹¹ sufficient and correct.

3. The consignor shall be liable to the railway for any loss or damage resulting from ¹⁹² the absence or insufficiency of or any irregularity in such documents, save in the case of fault by the railway. The railway shall, where it is at fault, be liable for any consequences arising from the loss, non-use or misuse of the documents referred to in the consignment note and accompanying it or deposited with the railway; nevertheless any compensation shall not exceed that payable in the event of loss of the goods.

4. The consignor must comply with the requirements of Customs or of other administrative authorities with respect to the packing and sheeting of the goods. If the consignor has not packed or sheeted the goods in accordance with those requirements the railway shall be entitled to do so; the resulting costs shall be charged against the goods. 5. The railway may refuse consignments when the seals affixed by Customs or other ¹⁹⁴ administrative authorities are damaged or defective.

Article 26 - Completion of Administrative Formalities

1. In transit, the formalities required by Customs or other administrative authorities ¹⁹⁶ shall be completed by the railway. The railway may, however, delegate that duty to an agent.

2. In completing such formalities, the railway shall be liable for any fault committed by ¹⁹⁷ itself or by its agent; nevertheless, any compensation shall not exceed that payable in the event of loss of the goods.

3. The consignor, by so indicating in the consignment note, or the consignee by giving orders as provided for in Article 31, may ask:

(a) to be present himself or to be represented by an agent when such formalities are ¹⁹⁹ carried out, for the purpose of furnishing any information or explanations required;

(b) to complete such formalities himself or to have them completed by an agent, in ²⁰⁰ so far as the laws and regulations of the State in which they are to be carried out so permit;

(c) to pay Customs duties and other charges, when he or his agent is present at or ²⁰¹ completes such formalities, in so far as the laws and regulations of the State in which they are carried out permit such payment.

Neither the consignor, nor the consignee who has the right of disposal, nor the agent ²⁰² of either may take possession of the goods.

4. If, for the completion of the formalities, the consignor designated a station where ²⁰³ the provisions in force do not permit of their completion, or if he has stipulated for the purpose any other procedure which cannot be followed, the railway shall act in the manner which appears to it to be the most favourable to the interests of the person entitled and shall inform the consignor of the measures taken. If the consignor, by an entry in the consignment note, has undertaken to pay charges including Customs duty, the railway shall have the choice of completing Customs formalities either in transit or at the destination station.

5. Subject to the exception provided for in the second subparagraph 4, the consignee ²⁰⁴ may complete Customs formalities at the destination station if that station has a Customs office and the consignment note requests Customs clearance on arrival, or, in the absence of such request, if the goods arrive under Customs control. The consignee may also complete these formalities at a destination station that has no Customs officer if the national laws and regulations so permit or if the prior authority of the railway and the Customs authorities has been obtained. If the consignee exercises any of these rights, he shall pay in advance the amounts chargeable against the goods. Nevertheless, the railway may proceed in accordance with 4 if the consignee has not taken

possession of the consignment note within the period fixed by the provisions in force at the destination station.

Article 27 - Transit periods

1. The transit periods shall be specified either by agreement between the railways participating in the carriage, or by the international tariffs applicable from the forwarding station to the destination station. For certain special types of traffic and on certain routes these periods may also be established on the basis of transport plans applicable between the railways concerned; in that case they must be included in international tariffs or special agreements which, where appropriate, may provide for derogations from 3 to 9 below. Such periods shall not in any case exceed those which would result from the application of the following paragraphs.

2. In the absence of any indication in regard to the transit periods as provided for in 1, ²⁰⁷ and subject to the following paragraphs, the transit periods shall be as follows:

(a) for wagon-load consignments: 208 (i) by grande vitesse: period for despatch . . . 12 hours period for carriage, for each 209 400 km or fraction thereof . . . 24 hours (ii) by petite vitesse: period for despatch . . . 24 hours period for carriage, for each 300 210 km or fraction thereof . . . 24 hours (b) for less than wagon-load consignments: 211 (i) by grande vitesse: period for despatch . . . 12 hours period for carriage, for each 212 300 km or fraction thereof . . . 24 hours (ii) by petite vitesse: period for despatch . . . 24 hours period for carriage, for each 200 213 km or fraction thereof . . . 24 hours All these distances shall relate to the kilometric distances contained in the tariffs. 214 3. The period for carriage shall be calculated on the total distance between the for-215 warding station and the destination station. The period for despatch shall be counted only one, irrespective of the number of systems traversed. 4. The railway may fix additional transit periods of specified duration in the following 216 cases: (a) consignments handed in for carriage, or to be delivered, at places other than sta-217 tions: (b) consignments to be carried: 218 (i) by a line or system not equipped to deal rapidly with consignments: 219 (ii) by a junction line connecting two lines of the same system or of different sys-220 tems:

(iii) by a secondary line;

221

(iv) by lines of different gauge;	222
(v) by sea or inland navigable waterway;	223
(vi) by road if there is no rail link;	224
(c) consignments charged at reduced rates in accordance with special or exceptional internal tariffs;	225
(d) exceptional circumstances causing an exceptional increase in traffic or exceptional operating difficulties.	226
5. The additional transit period provided for in 4 (a) to (c) shall be shown in the tariffs or in the provisions duly published in each State. Those provided for in 4 (d) must be published and may not come into force before their publication.	227
6. The transit period shall run from midnight next following acceptance of the goods for carriage. In the case, however, of traffic consigned grande vitesse the period shall start twenty-four hours later if the day which follows the day of acceptance for carriage is a Sunday or a statutory holiday and if the forwarding station is not open for grande vitesse traffic on that Sunday or statutory holiday.	228
7. Except in the case of any fault by the railway, the transit period shall be extended by the duration of the period necessitated by:	229
(a) verification or ascertainment in accordance with Article 21 and Article 22, 1, which reveals differences from the particulars shown in the consignment note;	230
(b) completion of the formalities required by Customs or other administrative authori- ties;	231
(c) modification of the contract of carriage under Article 30 or 31;	232
(d) special care to be given to the goods;	233
(e) the trans-shipment or reloading of any goods loaded defectively by the consignor;	234
(f) any interruption of traffic temporarily preventing the commencement or continuation of carriage.	235
The reason for and the duration of such extensions shall be entered in the consignment note. If necessary proof may be furnished by other means.	236
8. The transit period shall be suspended for:	237
(a) petite vitesse, on Sundays and statutory holidays;	238
(b) grande vitesse, on Sundays and certain statutory holidays when the provisions in force in any State provide for the suspension of domestic railway transit periods on those days;	239
(c) grande vitesse and petite vitesse, on Saturdays when the provisions in force in any State provide for the suspension of domestic railway transit periods on those days.	240
9. When the transit period ends after the time at which the destination station closes,	241

the period shall be extended until two hours after the time at which the station next opens. In addition, in the case of grande vitesse consignments, if the transit period ends on a Sunday or a holiday as defined in 8 (b) the period shall be extended until the same time on the next working day.

10. The transit period is observed if, before its expiry:

(a) in cases where consignments are to be delivered at a station and notice of arrival ²⁴³ must be given, such notice is given and the goods are held at the disposal of the consignee;

(b) in cases where consignments are to be delivered at a station and notice of arrival need not be given, the goods are held at the disposal of the consignee;

(c) in the case of consignments which are to be delivered at places other than stations, ²⁴⁵ the goods are placed at the disposal of the consignee.

Article 28 - Delivery

1. The railway shall hand over the consignment note and deliver the goods to the consignee at the destination station against a receipt and payment of the amounts chargeable to the consignee by the railway. Acceptance of the consignment note obliges the consignee to pay to the railway the amounts chargeable to him.

2. It shall be equivalent to delivery to the consignee if, in accordance with the provisions ²⁴⁸ in force at the destination station:

(a) the goods have been handed over to Customs or Octroi authorities at their premises ²⁴⁹ or warehouses, when these are not subject to railway supervision;

(b) the goods have been deposited for storage with the railway, with a forwarding agent or in a public warehouse.

3. The provisions in force at the destination station or the terms of any agreements ²⁵¹ with the consignee shall determine whether the railway is entitled or obliged to hand over the goods to the consignee elsewhere than at the destination station, whether in a private siding, at his domicile or in a railway depot. If the railway hands over the goods, or arranges for them to be handed over in a private siding, at his domicile or in a depot, delivery shall be deemed to have been effected at the time when they are so handed over. Save where the railway and the user of a private siding have agreed otherwise, operations carried out by the railway on behalf of and under the instructions of that user shall not be covered by the contract of carriage.

4. After the arrival of the goods at the destination station, the consignee may require the railway to hand over the consignment note and deliver the goods to him. If the loss of the goods is established or if the goods have not arrived on the expiry of the period provided for in Article 39, 1, the consignee may assert, in his own name, any rights against the railway which he may have acquired by reason of the contract of carriage.

242

5. The person entitled may refuse to accept the goods, even when he has received the ²⁵³ consignment note and paid the charges, so long as an examination for which he has asked in order to establish alleged loss or damage has not been made.

6. In all other respects, delivery of goods shall be carried out in accordance with the provisions in force at the destination station.

Article 29 - Correction of charges

255

1. In case of incorrect application of a tariff or of error in the calculation or collection ²⁵⁶ of charges, overcharges shall be repaid by the railway and undercharges paid to the railway only if they exceed four units of account per consignment note. The repayment shall be made as a matter of course.

2. If the consignee has not taken possession of the consignment note the consignor shall be obliged to pay to the railway any amounts undercharged. When the consignment note has been accepted by the consignee or the contract of carriage modified in accordance with Article 31, the consignor shall be obliged to pay any undercharge only to the extent that it relates to the costs which he has undertaken to pay by an entry in the consignment note. Any balance of the undercharge shall be paid by the consignee.

3. Sums due under this Article shall bear interest at five per cent per annum from the day of receipt of the demand for payment or from the day of the claim referred to in Article 53 or, if there has been no such demand or claim, from the day on which legal proceedings are instituted. If, within a reasonable period allotted to him, the person entitled does not submit to the railway the supporting documents required for the amount of the claim to be finally settled, no interest shall accrue between the expiry of the period laid down and the actual submission of such documents.

Title III - Modification of the contract of carriage	259
Article 30 - Modification by the consignor 2	
1. The consignor may modify the contract of carriage by giving subsequent orders:	261
(a) for the goods to be withdrawn at the forwarding station;	262
(b) for the goods to be stopped in transit;	263
(c) for delivery of the goods to be delayed;	264
(d) for the goods to be delivered to a person other than the consignee shown in the consignment note;	265
(e) for the goods to be delivered at a station other than the destination station shown in the consignment note;	266
(f) for the goods to be returned to the forwarding station;	267

(g) for the consignment to be made subject to a cash on delivery payment; 268 (h) for a cash on delivery payment to be increased, reduced or cancelled; 269

(i) for charges relating to a consignment which has not been prepaid to be debited to 270 him, or for charges which he has undertaken to pay in accordance with Article 15, 2 to be increased.

The tariffs of the forwarding railway may provide that orders specified in (g) to (i) are not 271 acceptable. The supplementary provisions or the international tariffs in force between the railways participating in the carriage may provide for the acceptance of orders other than those listed above. Orders must not in any event have the effect of splitting the consignment.

2. Such orders shall be given to the forwarding station by means of a written declaration 272 in the form laid down and published by the railway. The declaration shall be reproduced and signed by the consignor in the duplicate of the consignment note which shall be presented to the railway at the same time. The forwarding station shall certify that the order has been received by affixing its date stamp on the duplicate note below the declaration made by the consignor and the duplicate shall then be returned to him. If the consignor asks for a cash on delivery payment to be increased, reduced or cancelled, he shall produce the document which was delivered to him. Where the cash on delivery payment is to be increased or reduced, such document shall be returned to the consignor after correction; in the event of cancellation it shall not be returned. Any order given in a form other than that prescribed shall be null and void.

3. If the railway complies with the consignor's orders without requiring the production of 273 the duplicate, where this has been sent to the consignee, the railway shall be liable to the consignee for any loss or damage caused thereby. Nevertheless, any compensation shall not exceed that payable in the event of loss of the goods.

4. The consignor's right to modify the contract of carriage shall, notwithstanding that 274 he is in possession of the duplicate of the consignment note, be extinguished in cases where the consignee:

(a) has taken possession of the consignment note;	275
(b) has accepted the goods;	276
(c) has asserted his rights in accordance with Article 28, 4;	277

(c) has asserted his rights in accordance with Article 28, 4;

(d) is entitled, in accordance with Article 31, to give orders as soon as the consignment 278 had entered the Customs territory of the country of destination.

From that time onwards, the railway shall comply with the orders and instructions of the 279 consignee.

Article 31 - Modification by the consignee

280

1. When the consignor has not undertaken to pay the charges relating to carriage in 281 the country of destination, and has not inserted in the consignment note the words

"Consignee not authorised to give subsequent orders", the consignee may modify the contract of carriage by giving subsequent orders:

(a) for the goods to be stopped in transit;

282 283

(b) for delivery of the goods to be delayed;

(c) for the goods to be delivered in the country of destination to a person other than the consignee shown in the consignment note;

(d) for the goods to be delivered in the country of destination at a station other than the destination station shown in the consignment note, subject to contrary provisions in international tariffs;

(e) for formalities required by Customs or other administrative authorities to be carried ²⁸⁶ out in accordance with Article 26, 3.

The supplementary provisions or the international tariffs in force between the railways participating in the carriage may provide for the acceptance of orders other than those listed above. Orders must not in any case have the effect of splitting the consignment. The consignee's orders shall only be effective after the consignment has entered the Customs territory of the country of destination.

2. Such orders shall be given either to the destination station or to the station of entry into the country of destination, by means of a written declaration in the form laid down and published by the railway. Any order given in a form other than that prescribed shall be null and void.

3. The consignee's right to modify the contract of carriage shall be extinguished in ²⁸⁹ cases where he has:

(a) taken possession of the consignment note;	290
(b) accepted the goods;	291
(c) asserted his rights in accordance with Article 28, 4;	292
(d) designated a person in accordance with 1 (c) and that person has taken possession of the consignment note or asserted his rights in accordance with Article 28, 4.	293
4. If the consignee has given instructions for delivery of the goods to another person,	294

Article 32 - Execution of subsequent orders

that person shall not be entitled to modify the contract of carriage.

1. The railway may not refuse to execute orders given under Articles 30 or 31 or delay doing so save where:

(a) it is no longer possible to execute the orders by the time they reach the station ²⁹⁷ responsible for doing so;

- (b) compliance with the orders would interfere with normal railway operations; 298
- (c) a change of destination station would contravene the laws and regulations of a 299

State, and in particular the requirements of the Customs or of other administrative authorities;

(d) in the case of a change of destination station, the value of the goods will not, in the railway's view, cover all the charges which would be payable on the goods on arrival at the new destination, unless the amount of such charges is paid or guaranteed immediately.

The person who has given the orders shall be informed as soon as possible of any ³⁰¹ circumstances which prevent their execution. If the railway is not in a position to foresee such circumstances, the person who has given the orders shall be liable for all the consequences of starting to execute them.

2. The charges arising from the execution of an order, except those arising from any ³⁰² fault by the railway, shall be paid in accordance with Article 15.

3. Subject to 1, the railway shall, in the case of any fault on its part, be liable for the consequences of failure to execute an order or failure to execute it properly. Nevertheless, any compensation shall not exceed that payable in the event of loss of the goods.

Article 33 - Circumstances preventing carriage

1. When circumstances prevent the carriage of goods, the railway shall decide whether it is preferable to carry the goods as a matter of course by modifying the route or whether it is advisable in the consignor's interest to ask him for instructions and at the same time give him any relevant information available to the railway. Save fault on its part, the railway may recover the carriage charges applicable to the route followed and shall be allowed the transit periods applicable to such route.

2. If it is impossible to continue carrying the goods, the railway shall ask the consignor ³⁰⁶ for instructions. It shall not be obliged to do so in the event of carriage being temporarily prevented as a result of measures taken in accordance with Article 3, 4.

3. The consignor may enter in the consignment note instructions to cover the event ³⁰⁷ of circumstances preventing carriage. If the railway considers that such instructions cannot be executed, it shall ask for fresh instructions.

4. The consignor, on being notified of circumstances preventing carriage, may give his ³⁰⁸ instructions either to the forwarding station or to the station where the goods are being held. If those instructions change the consignee or the destination station or are given to the station where the goods are being held, the consignor must enter them in the duplicate of the consignment note and present this to the railway.

5. If the railway complies with the consignor's instructions without requiring the production of the duplicate, when this has been sent to the consignee, the railway shall be liable to the consignee for any loss or damage caused thereby. Nevertheless, any compensation shall not exceed that payable in the event of loss of the goods.

6. If the consignor, on being notified of a circumstance preventing carriage, fails to 310

give within a reasonable time instructions which can be executed, the railway shall take action in accordance with the provisions relating to circumstances preventing delivery, in force at the place where the goods have been held up. If the goods have been sold, the proceeds of sale, less any amounts chargeable against the goods, shall be held at the disposal of the consignor. If the proceeds are less than those costs, the consignor shall pay the difference.

7. When the circumstances preventing carriage cease to obtain before the arrival of ³¹¹ instructions from the consignor, the goods shall be forwarded to their destination without waiting for such instructions; the consignor shall be notified to that effect as soon as possible.

8. When the circumstances preventing carriage arise after the consignee has modified the contract of carriage in accordance with Article 31, the railway shall notify the consignee. 2, 2, 6, 7 and 9 shall apply analogously.

9. Save fault on its part, the railway may raise demurrage or standage charges if circumstances prevent carriage.

10. Article 32 shall apply to carriage undertaken in accordance with Article 33.

Article 34 - Circumstances preventing delivery

1. When circumstances prevent delivery of the goods, the destination station shall ³¹⁶ without delay notify the consignor through the forwarding station, and ask for his instructions. The consignor shall be notified direct, either in writing, by telegram or by teleprinter, if he has so requested in the consignment note; the costs of such notification shall be charged against the goods.

2. If the circumstances preventing delivery cease to obtain before the arrival at the destination station of instructions from the consignor the goods shall be delivered to the consignee. The consignor shall be notified without delay by registered letter; the costs of such notification shall be charged against the goods.

3. If the consignee refuses the goods, the consignor shall be entitled to give instructions ³¹⁸ even if he is unable to produce the duplicate of the consignment note.

4. The consignor may also request, by an entry in the consignment note, that the goods be returned to him as a matter of course in the event of circumstances preventing delivery. Unless such request is made, his express consent is required.

5. Unless the tariffs otherwise provide, the consignor's instructions shall be given ³²⁰ through the forwarding station.

6. Except as otherwise provided for above, the railway responsible for delivery shall proceed in accordance with the provisions in force at the place of delivery. If the goods have been sold, the proceeds of sale, less any costs chargeable against the goods, shall be held at the disposal of the consignor. If such proceeds are less than those costs, the consignor shall pay the difference.

25

7. When the circumstances preventing delivery arise after the consignee has modified the contract of carriage in accordance with Article 31, the railway shall notify the consignee. 1, 2 and 6 shall apply analogously.

8. Article 32 shall apply to carriage undertaken in accordance with Article 34.

Title IV - Liability

Article 35 - Collective responsibility of railways

1. The railway which has accepted goods for carriage with the consignment note shall ³²⁶ be responsible for the carriage over the entire route up to delivery.

2. Each succeeding railway, by the very act of taking over the goods with the consignment note, shall become a party to the contract of carriage in accordance with the terms of that document and shall assume the obligations arising therefrom, without prejudice to the provisions of Article 55, 3, relating to the railway of destination.

Article 36 - Extent of liability

1. The railway shall be liable for loss or damage resulting from the total or partial loss of, 329 or damage to, the goods between the time of acceptance for carriage and the time of delivery and for the loss or damage resulting from the transit period being exceeded.

2. The railway shall be relieved of such liability if the loss or damage or the exceeding of the transit period was caused by a fault on the part of the person entitled, by an order given by the person entitled other than as a result of a fault on the part of the railway, by inherent vice of the goods (decay, wastage, etc.) or by circumstances which the railway could not avoid and the consequences of which it was unable to prevent.

3. The railways shall be relieved of such liability when the loss or damage arises from ³³¹ the special risks inherent in one or more of the following circumstances:

(a) carriage in open wagons under the conditions applicable thereto or under an agreement made between the consignor and the railway and referred to in the consignment note;

(b) absence or inadequacy of packing in the case of goods which by their nature are ³³³ liable to loss or damage when not packed or when not properly packed;

(c) loading operations carried out by the consignor or unloading operations carried out ³³⁴ by the consignee under the provisions applicable thereto or under an agreement made between the consignor and the railway and referred to in the consignment note, or under an agreement between the consignee and the railway;

(d) defective loading, when loading has been carried out by the consignor under the provisions applicable thereto or under an agreement made between the consignor and the railway and referred to in the consignment note;

328

323

324

(e) completion by the consignor, the consignee or an agent of either, of the formalities 336 required by Customs or other administrative authorities;

(f) the nature of certain goods which renders them inherently liable to total or partial 337 loss or damage, especially through breakage, rust, interior and spontaneous decay, desiccation or wastage;

(g) irregular, incorrect or incomplete description of articles not acceptable for carriage 338 or acceptable subject to conditions, or failure on the part of the consignor to observe the prescribed precautions in respect of articles acceptable subject to conditions;

(h) carriage of live animals;

(i) carriage which, under the provisions applicable or under an agreement made be-340 tween the consignor and the railway and referred to in the consignment note, must be accompanied by an attendant, if the loss or damage results from any risk which the attendant was intended to avert.

Article 37 - Burden of Proof

1. The burden of proving that the loss, the damage or the exceeding of the transit period 342 was due to one of the causes specified in Article 36, 2 shall rest upon the railway.

2. When the railway establishes that, having regard to the circumstances of a partic-343 ular case, the loss or damage could have arisen from one or more of the special risks referred to in Article 36, 3, it shall be presumed that it did so arise. The person entitled shall, however, have the right to prove that the loss or damage was not attributable either wholly or partly to one of those risks. This presumption shall not apply in the case referred to in Article 36, 3 (a) if an abnormally large quantity has been lost or if a package has been lost.

Article 38 - Presumption in case of reconsignment

1. When a consignment despatched in accordance with the Uniform Rules has been 345 reconsigned subject to the same Rules and partial loss or damage has been ascertained after the reconsignment, it shall be presumed that it occurred during the latest contract of carriage if the consignment remained in the care of the railway and was reconsigned in the same condition as it arrived at the station from which it was reconsigned.

2. This presumption shall also apply when the contract of carriage prior to the recon-346 signment was not subject to the Uniform Rules, if the Rules would have applied in the case of a through consignment from the original forwarding station to the final destination station.

Article 39 - Presumption of loss of goods

1. The person entitled may, without being required to furnish further proof, consider the 348

344

341

goods lost when they have not been delivered to the consignee or are not being held at his disposal within thirty days after the expiry of the transit periods.

2. The person entitled may, on receipt of compensation for the lost goods, make a written request to be notified without delay should the goods be recovered within one year after the payment of compensation. The railway shall give a written acknowledgement of such request.

3. Within thirty days after receipt of such notification, the person entitled may require the goods to be delivered to him at any station on the route. In that case he shall pay the charges in respect of carriage from the forwarding station to the station where delivery is effected and shall refund the compensation received, less any costs which may have been included therein. Nevertheless he shall retain his rights to claim compensation for exceeding the transit period provided for in Articles 43 and 46.

4. In the absence of the request mentioned in 2 or of any instructions given within ³⁵¹ the period specified in 3, or if the goods are recovered more than one year after the payment of compensation, the railway shall dispose of them in accordance with the laws and regulations of the State having jurisdiction over the railway.

Article 40 - Compensation for loss

1. In the event of total or partial loss of the goods the railway must pay, to the exclusion ³⁵³ of all other damages, compensation calculated according to the commodity exchange quotation or, if there is no such quotation, according to the current market price, or if there is neither such quotation nor such price, according to the normal value of goods of the same kind and quality at the time and place at which the goods were accepted for carriage.

2. Compensation shall not exceed 17 units of account per kilogramme of gross mass ³⁵⁴ short, subject to the limit provided for in Article 45.

3. The railway shall in addition refund carriage charges, Customs duties and other 355 amounts incurred in connection with carriage of the lost goods.

4. When the calculation of compensation requires the conversion of amounts expressed ³⁵⁶ in foreign currencies, conversion shall be at the rate of exchange applicable at the time and place of payment of compensation.

Article 41 - Liability for wastage in transit

1. In respect of goods which, by reason of their nature, are generally subject to wastage ³⁵⁸ in transit by the sole fact of carriage, the railway shall only be liable to the extent that the wastage exceeds the following allowances, whatever the length of the route:

(a) two per cent of the mass for liquid goods or goods consigned in a moist condition, ³⁵⁹ and also for the following goods: Bark, Bones, whole or ground, Coal and coke, Dyewoods, grated or ground, Fats, Fish, dried, Fruit, fresh, dried or cooked salt, Furs, Hide

352

cuttings, Hides, Hog bristles, Hops, Horns and hooves, Horsehair, Leather, Liquorice root, Mushrooms, fresh, Peat and turf, Putty or mastic, fresh, Roots, Sinews, animal, Soap and solidified oils, Tobacco, cut, Tobacco leaves, fresh, Vegetables, fresh, Wool;

(b) one per cent of the weight for all other dry goods.

2. The limitation of liability provided for in 1 may not be invoked if, having regard to the circumstances of a particular case, it is proved that the loss was not due to cause which would justify an allowance.

3. Where several packages are carried under a single consignment note, the wastage ³⁶² in transit shall be calculated separately for each package if its mass on despatch is shown separately in the consignment note or can otherwise be ascertained.

4. In the event of total loss of the goods, no deduction for wastage in transit shall be 363 made in calculating the compensation payable.

5. This Article shall not derogate from Articles 36 and 37.

Article 42 - Compensation for damage

1. In case of damage to goods, the railway must pay compensation equivalent to the ³⁶⁶ loss in value of the goods, to the exclusion of all other damages. The amount shall be calculated by applying to the value of the goods as defined in Article 40 the percentage of loss in value noted at the place of destination.

2. The compensation may not exceed:

(a) if the whole consignment has lost value through damage, the amount which would have been payable in case of total loss;

(b) if only part of the consignment has lost value through damage, the amount which 369 would have been payable had that part been lost.

3. The railway shall in addition refund the amounts provided for in Article 40, 3, in the proportion set out in 1.

Article 43 - Compensation for exceeding the transit period

1. If loss or damage has resulted from the transit period being exceeded, the railway ³⁷² shall pay compensation not exceeding three times the carriage charger.

2. In case of total loss of the goods, the compensation provided for in 1 shall not be ₃₇₃ payable in addition to that provided for in Article 40.

3. In case of partial loss of the goods, the compensation provided for in 1 shall not ³⁷⁴ exceed three times the carriage charges in respect of that part of the consignment which has not been lost.

4. In case of damage to the goods, not resulting from the transit period being exceeded, 375

367

364

365

360

the compensation provided for in 1 shall, where appropriate, be payable in addition to that provided for in Article 42.

5. In no case shall the total of compensation payable under 1 together with that payable 376 under Articles 40 and 42 exceed the compensation which would be payable in the event of total loss of the goods.

6. The railway may provide, in international tariffs or in special agreements, for other 377 forms of compensation than those provided for in 1 when, in accordance with Article 27, 1, the transit period has been established on the basis of transport plans. If, in this case, the transit periods provided for in Article 27, 2 are exceeded, the person entitled may demand either the compensation provided for in 1 above or that determined by the international tariff or the special agreement applied.

Article 44 - Compensation in case of wilful misconduct or gross negligence

When the loss, damage or exceeding of the transit period, or the failure to perform or 379 failure to perform properly the railway's additional services provided for in the Uniform Rules, has been caused by wilful misconduct or gross negligence on the part of the railway, full compensation for the loss or damage proved shall be paid to the person entitled by the railway. In case of gross negligence, liability shall, however, be limited to twice the maxima specified in Articles 25,26, 30, 32, 33, 40, 42, 43, 45 and 46.

Article 45 - Limitation of compensation under certain tariffs

When the railway agrees to special conditions of carriage through special or exceptional 381 tariffs, involving a reduction in the carriage charge calculated on the basis of the general tariffs, it may limit the amount of compensation payable to the person entitled in the event of loss, damage or exceeding of the transit period, provided that such limit is indicated in the tariff. When the special conditions of carriage apply only to part of the route, the limit may only be invoked if the event giving rise to the compensation occurred on that part of the route.

Article 46 - Compensation in case of interest in delivery

In case of a declaration of interest in delivery, further compensation for loss or damage 383 proved may be claimed, in addition to the compensation provided for in Articles 40, 42, 43 and 45, up to the amount declared.

Article 47 - Interest on compensation

1. The person entitled may claim interest on compensation payable, calculated at five 385 per cent per annum, from the date of the claim referred to in Article 53 or, if no such claim has been made, from the day on which legal proceedings are instituted.

382

384

380

2. Interest shall only be payable if the compensation exceeds four units of account per 386 consignment note.

3. If, within a reasonable period allotted to him, the person entitled does not submit to the railway the supporting documents required for the amount of the claim to be finally settled, no interest shall accrue between the expiry of the period laid down and the actual submission of such documents.

Article 48 - Liability in respect of rail-sea traffic

1. In rail-sea transport by the services referred to in Article 2, 2 of the Convention each ³⁸⁹ State may, by requesting that a suitable note be included in the list of lines or services to which the Uniform Rules apply, indicate that the following grounds for exemption from liability will apply in their entirety in addition to those provided for in Article 36. The carrier may only avail himself to these grounds for exemption if he proves that the loss, damage or exceeding of the transit period occurred in the course of the sea journey between the time when the goods were loaded on board the ship and the time when they were discharged from the ship. The grounds for exemption are as follows:

(a) act, neglect or default on the part of the master, a mariner, pilot or the carrier's ³⁹⁰ servants in the navigation or management of the ship;

(b) unseaworthiness of the ship, if the carrier proves that the unseaworthiness is not ³⁹¹ attributable to lack of due diligence on his part to make the ship seaworthy, to ensure that it is properly manned, equipped and supplied or to make all parts of the ship in which the goods are loaded fit and safe for their reception, carriage and protection;

(c) fire, if the carrier proves that it was not caused by his act or fault, or that of the ³⁹² master, a mariner, pilot or the carrier's servants;

(d) perils, dangers and accidents of the sea or other navigable waters;	
In nerils, hanners and accidents of the sea of other navidable waters.	
(u) period unique d'unique de la concente de la concentra d	

(e) saving or attempting to save life or property at sea;

(f) the loading of goods on the deck of the ship, if they are so loaded with the consent ³⁹⁵ of the consignor given in the consignment note and are not in wagons.

The above grounds for exemption in no way affect the general obligations of the carrier ³⁹⁶ and, in particular, his obligation to exercise due diligence to make the ship seaworthy, to ensure that it is properly manned, equipped and supplied and to make all parts of the ship in which the goods are loaded fit and safe for their reception, carriage and protection Even when the carrier can rely on the foregoing grounds for exemption, he shall nevertheless remain liable if the person entitled proves that the loss, damage or exceeding of the transit period is due to a fault of the carrier, the master, a mariner, pilot or the carrier's servants, fault other than provided for under (a).

2. Where one and the same sea route is served by several undertakings included in the list referred to in Articles 3 and 10 of the Convention, the regime of liability applicable to that route shall be the same for all those undertakings. In addition, where such

388

393

undertakings have been included in the list at the request of several States, the adoption of this regime shall be the subject of prior agreement between those States

3. The measures taken under this Article shall be notified to the Central Office. They ³⁹⁸ shall come into force at the earliest at the expiry of a period of thirty days from the date of the letter by which the Central Office notifies them to the other States. Consignments already in transit shall not be affected by such measures.

Article 49 - Liability in case of nuclear incidents

The railway shall be relieved of liability under the Uniform Rules for less or damage 400 caused by a nuclear incident when the operator of a nuclear installation or another person who is substituted for him is liable for the loss or damage pursuant to a State's laws and regulations governing liability in the field of nuclear energy.

Article 50 - Liability of the railway for its servants

The railway shall be liable for its servants and for any other persons whom it employs ⁴⁰² to perform the carriage. If, however, such servants and other persons, at the request of an interested party, make out consignment notes, make translations or render other services which the railway itself is under no obligation to render, they shall be deemed to be acting on behalf of the person to whom the services are rendered.

Article 51 - Other actions

In all cases to which the Uniform Rules apply, any action in respect of liability on any grounds whatsoever may be brought against the railway only subject to the conditions and limitations laid down in the Rules. The same shall apply to any action brought against those servants and other persons for whom the railway is liable under Article 50.

Title V - Assertion of Rights

Article 52 - Ascertainment of partial loss or damage

1. When partial loss of, or damage to, goods is discovered or presumed by the railway or alleged by the person entitled, the railway must without delay, and if possible in the presence of the person entitled, draw up a report stating, according to the nature of the loss or damage, the condition of the goods, their mass and, as far as possible, the extent of the loss or damage, its cause and the time of its occurrence. A copy of the report must be supplied free of charge to the person entitles.

2. Should the person entitled not accept the findings in the report, he may request that the condition and mass of the goods and the cause and amount of the loss or damage

405

399

401

403

be ascertained by an expert appointed either by the parties or by a court. The procedure to be followed shall be governed by the laws and regulations of the State in which such ascertainment takes place.

Article 53 - Claims

409

1. Claims relating to the contract of carriage shall be made in writing to the railway ⁴¹⁰ specified in Article 55.

2. A claim may be made by persons who have the right to bring an action against the 411 railway under Article 54.

3. To make the claim, the consignor must produce the duplicate of the consignment ⁴¹² note. Failing this, he must produce an authorisation from the consignee or furnish proof that the consignee has refused to accept the consignment. To make the claim, the consignee must produce the consignment note if it has been handed over to him.

4. The consignment note, the duplicate and any other documents which the person 413 entitled thinks fit to submit with the claim shall be produced either in the original or as copies, the copies to be duly authenticated if the railway so requires. On settlement of the claim, the railway may require the production, in the original form, of the consignment note, the duplicate or the cash on delivery voucher so that they may be endorsed to the effect that settlement has been made

Article 54 - Persons who may bring an action against the railway	
1. An action for the recovery of a sum paid under the contract of carriage may only be brought by the peson who made the payment.	415
2. An action in respect of the cash on-delivery payments provided for in Article 17 may only be brought by the consignor.	416
3. Other actions arising from the contract of carriage may be brought:	417
(a) by the consignor, until such time as the consignee has:	418
(i) taken possession of the consignment note,	419
(ii) accepted the goods, or	420
(iii) asserted his rights under Article 28, 4 or Article 31;	421
(b) by the consignee, from the time when he has:	422
(i) taken possession of the consignment note,	423
(ii) accepted the goods,	424
(iii) asserted his rights under Article 28, 4, or	425
(iv) asserted his rights under Article 31 provided that the right of action shall be extin-	426

(iv) asserted his rights under Article 31 provided that the right of action shall be extinguished from the time when the person designated by the consignee in accordance with Article 31, 1 (c) has taken possession of the consignment note, accepted the goods, or asserted his rights under Article 28, 4.

4. In order to bring an action, the consignor must produce the duplicate of the consignment note. Failing this, in order to bring an action under 3 (a) he must produce an authorisation from the consignee or furnish proof that the consignee has refused to accept the consignment. In order to bring an action, the consignee shall produce the consignment note if it has been handed over to him.

Article 55 - Railways against which an action may be brought

1. An action for the recovery of a sum paid under the contract of carriage may be brought against the railway which has collected that sum or against the railway on whose behalf it was collected.

2. An action in respect of the cash on delivery payments provided for in Article 17 may ₄₃₀ only be brought against the forwarding railway.

3. Other actions arising from the contract of carriage may be brought against the forwarding railway, the railway of destination or the railway on which the event giving rise to the proceedings occurred. Such actions may be brought against the railway of destination even if it has received neither the goods nor the consignment note.

4. If the plaintiff can choose between several railways, his right to choose shall be 432 extinguished as soon as he brings an action against any one of them.

5. An action may be brought against a railway other than those specified in 1, 2 and ⁴³³ 3 when instituted by way of counterclaim or by way of exception to the principal claim based on the same contract of carriage.

Article 56 - Competence

Actions brought under the Uniform Rules may only be instituted in the competent court of the State having jurisdiction over the defendant railway, unless otherwise provided in agreements between States or in acts of concession. When a railway operates independent railway systems in different States, each system shall be regarded as a separate railway for the purposes of this Article.

Article 57 - Extinction of right of action against the railway

1. Acceptance of the goods by the person entitled shall extinguish all rights of action 437 against the railway arising from the contract of carriage in case of partial loss, damage or exceeding of the transit period.

(a) in the case of partial loss or of damage, if:

434

436

439

(i) the loss or damage was ascertained before the acceptance of the goods in accor- 440 dance with Article 52 by the person entitled;

(ii) the ascertainment which should have been carried out under Article 52 was omitted 441 solely through the fault of the railway;

(b) in the case of loss or damage which is not apparent and is not ascertained until after 442 acceptance of the goods by the person entitled, provided that he:

(i) asks for ascertainment in accordance with Article 52 immediately after discovery ⁴⁴³ of the loss or damage and not later than seven days after the acceptance of the goods;

(ii) and, in addition, proves that the loss or damage occurred between the time of ac- 444 ceptance for carriage and the time of delivery.

(c) in cases where the transit period has been exceeded, if the person entitled has, ⁴⁴⁵ within sixty days, asserted his rights against one of the railways referred to in Article 55, 3;

(d) if the person entitled furnishes proof that the loss or damage was caused by wilful ⁴⁴⁶ misconduct or gross negligence on the part of the railway.

3. If the goods have been reconsigned in accordance with Article 38, 1 rights of action in case of partial loss or of damage, arising from one of the previous contracts of carriage, shall be extinguished as if there had been only one contract of carriage.

Article 58 - Limitation of action

1. The period of limitation for an action arising from the contract of carriage shall be 449 one year. Nevertheless, the period of limitation shall be two years in the case of an action:

(a) to recover a cash on delivery payment collected by the railway from the consignee;

(b) to recover the proceeds of a sale effected by the railway; 451

(c) for loss or damage caused by wilful misconduct;

(d) for fraud;

(e) arising from one of the contracts of carriage prior to the reconsignment in the case 454 provided for in Article 38, 1.

2. The period of limitation shall run;

(a) in actions for compensation for total loss, from the thirtieth day after the expiry of ⁴⁵⁶ the transit period;

(b) in actions for compensation for partial loss, for damage or for exceeding the transit 457 period, from the day when delivery took place;

(c) in actions for payment or refund of carriage charges, supplementary charges, other 458

448

452

453

charges or surcharges, or for correction of charges in case of a tariff being wrongly applied or of an error in calculation or collection:

(i) if payment has been made, from the day of payment;

(ii) if payment has not been made, from the day when the goods were accepted for 460 carriage if payment is due from the consignor, or from the day when the consignee took possession of the consignment note if payment is due from him;

(iii) in the case of sums to be paid under a charge note, from the day on which the railway submits to the consignor the account of charges provided for in Article 15, 7; if no such account has been submitted, the period in respect of sums due to the railway shall run from the thirtieth day following the expiry of the transit period;

(d) in an action by the railway for recovery of a sum which has been paid by the consignee instead of by the consignor or vice versa and which the railway is required to refund to the person entitled, from the day of the claim for a refund;

(e) in actions relating to cash on delivery as provided for in Article 17, from the thirtieth day following the expiry of the transit period;

(f) in actions to recover the proceeds of a sale, from the day of the sale; 464

(g) in actions to recover additional duty demanded by Customs or other administrative 465 authorities, from the day of the demand made by such authorities;

(h) in all other cases, from the dy when the right of action arises.

The day indicated for the commencement of the period of limitation shall not be included ⁴⁶⁷ in the period.

3. When a claim is presented to a railway in accordance with Article 53 together with the necessary supporting documents, the period of limitation shall be suspended until the day that the railway rejects the claim by notification in writing and returns the documents. If part of the claim is admitted, the period of limitation shall recommence in respect of that part of the claim still in dispute. The burden of proof of receipt of the claim or of the reply and of the return of the documents shall rest on the party who relies on those facts. The period of limitation shall not be suspended by further claims having the same object.

4. A right of action which has become time-barred may not be exercised by way of 469 counter claim or relied upon by way of exception.

5. Subject to the foregoing provisions, the suspension and interruption of periods of 470 limitation shall be governed by national law.

Title VI - Relations between Railways	471
Article 59 - Settlement of accounts between railways	472

1. Any railway which has collected, either at the time of forwarding or on arrival, charges 473

459

or other sums due under the contract of carriage must pay to the railways concerned their respective shares. The methods of payment shall be settled by agreements between railways.

2. Subject to its rights of recovery against the consignor, the forwarding railway shall be ⁴⁷⁴ liable for carriage and other charges which it has failed to collect when the consignor has undertaken to pay them in accordance with Article 15.

3. Should the railway of destination deliver the goods without collecting charges or 475 other sums due under the contract of carriage, it shall be liable for them to the railways which have taken part in the carriage and to the other parties concerned.

4. Should one railway default in payment and such default be confirmed by the Central ⁴⁷⁶ Of fice at the request of one of the creditor railways, the consequences thereof shall be borne by tall the other railways which have taken part in the carriage in proportion to their shares of the carriage charges. The right of recovery against the defaulting railway shall not be affected.

Article 60 - Recourse in case of loss or damage

1. A railway which has paid compensation in accordance with the Uniform Rules, for 478 total or partial loss or for damage, has a right of recourse against the other railways which have taken part in the carriage in accordance with the following provisions:

(a) the railway which has caused the loss or damage shall be solely liable for it;

(b) when the loss or damage has been caused by more than one railway, each shall be liable for the loss or damage it has caused; if such distinction cannot be made, the compensation shall be apportioned between those railways in accordance with (c);

(c) if it cannot be proved that the loss or damage has been caused by one or more ⁴⁸¹ railways in particular, the compensation shall be apportioned between all the railways which have taken part in the carriage, except these which can prove that the loss or damage was not caused on their lines; such apportionment shall be in proportion to the kilometric distances contained in the tariffs.

2. In the case of the insolvency of any one of the railways, the unpaid share due from it shall be apportioned among all the other railways which have taken part in the carriage, in proportion to the kilometric distances contained in the tariffs.

Article 61 - Recourse in case of exceeding the transit period

1. Article 60 shall apply where compensation is paid for exceeding the transit period. ⁴⁸⁴ If this has been caused by more than one railway, the compensation shall be apportioned between such railways in proportion to the length of the delay occurring on their respective lines.

2. The transit periods specified in Article 27 shall be apportioned in the following man- 485

483

477

ner:

(a) where two railways have taken part in the carriage:	486
(i) the period for despatch shall be divided equally;	487
(ii) the period for transport shall be divided in proportion to the kilometric distances contained in the tariffs;	488
(b) where three or more railways have taken part in the carriage:	489
(i) the period for despatch shall be divided equally between the forwarding railway and the railway of destination;	490
(ii) the period for transport shall be divided between all the railways: -one-third in equal shares, -the remaining two-thirds in proportion to the kilometric distances contained in the tariffs.	491
3. Any additional periods to which a railway may be entitled shall be allocated to that railway.	492
4. The interval between the time when the goods are handed over to the railway and commencement of the period for despatch shall be allocated exclusively to the forward-ing railway.	493
5. Such apportionment shall only apply if the total transit period has been exceeded.	494

Article 62 - Procedure for recourse

1. The validity of the payment made by the railway exercising one of the rights of recourse under Articles 60 and 61 may not be disputed by the railway against which the right of recourse is exercised, when compensation has been determined by a court and when the latter railway duly served with notice, has been afforded an opportunity to intervene in the proceedings. The court seized of the main proceedings shall determine what time shall be allowed for such notification and for intervention in the proceedings.

2. A railway exercising its right of recourse must take proceedings by one and the same 497 action against all the railways concerned with which it has not reached a settlement, failing which it shall lose its right of recourse in the case of those against which it has not taken proceedings.

3. The court shall give its decision in one and the same judgment on all recourse claims 498 brought before it.

4. The railways against which such action has been brought shall have no further right 499 of recourse.

5. Recourse proceedings may not be joined with proceedings for compensation taken 500 by the person entitled on the basis of the contract of carriage.

Article 63 - Competence for recourse

1. The courts of the country in which the railway against which the recourse claim 502 has been made, has its headquarters shall have exclusive competence for all recourse claims.

2. When the action is to be brought against several railways, the plaintiff railway shall 503 be entitled to choose the court in which it will bring the proceedings from among those having competence under 1.

Article 64 - Agreements concerning recourse

By agreement, railways may derogate from the provisions concerning reciprocal rights 505 of recourse set out in Title VI, apart from that contained in Article 62, 5.

Title VII - Exceptional Provisions

Article 65 - Temporary derogations

1. If the economic and financial position of any State is such as to cause serious dif-508 ficulty in applying Title VI, each State may derogate from Articles 15, 17 and 30 by determining in the case of certain types of traffic that:

(a) consignments from the territory of that State shall be forwarded charges paid:

(i) as far as its frontiers, or

(ii) at least as far as its frontiers;

(b) consignments to destinations in that State shall be forwarded charges paid: 512

(i) at least as far as its frontiers, in so far as the State of departure does not impose the 513 restriction provided for at (a) (i), or

(ii) at most as far as its frontiers;

(c) consignments from or to the territory of that State may not be made subject to any 515 cash on delivery payment and that no disbursements shall be allowed, or that cash on delivery payments and disbursements shall be allowed only within certain limits;

(d) the consignor may not modify the contract of carriage in matters affecting the country 516 of destination, prepayment of charges and cash on delivery payments.

2. Under the same conditions States may authorise the railways to derogate from Arti-517 cles 15, 17, 30 and 31 by determining, in the case of traffic exchanged between them that:

(a) the rules for the payment of charges shall be specially fixed by agreement between 518 the railways concerned; however, such rules may not prescribe methods of payment other than those provided for in Article 15;

39

506

507

504

501

509

510

511

(b) certain subsequent orders shall not be allowed.

3. Measures taken in accordance with 1 and 2 shall be notified to the Central Office. ⁵²⁰ The measures set out in 1 shall come into force at the earliest on the expiry of a period of eight days from the date of the letter by which the Central Office shall have notified such measures to the other States. The measures set out in 2 shall come into force at the earliest on the expiry of a period of two days from the date of their publication in the States concerned.

4. Consignments already in transit shall not be affected by such measures.

Article 66 - Derogations

The provisions of the Uniform Rules shall not prevail over those provisions which certain States are obliged to adopt, in traffic among themselves, in pursuance of certain Treaties such as the Treaties relating to the European Coal and Steel Community and the European Economic Community.

ANNEX I - (Articles 4 and 5)

Annex I

Regulations concerning the International Carriage of Dangerous Goods by Rail (RID) 525

The text of this Annex shall be that drawn up by the Committee of Experts, in accordance with Article 69, 4 of the International Convention concerning the Carriage of Goods by Rail (CIM) of 7 February 1970, for the International Regulations concerning the Carriage of Dangerous Goods by Rail (RID), Annex I to the CIM. The Committee of Experts shall also edit the text to bring it into line with the Convention concerning the International Carriage of Goods by Rail of 9 May 1980.

ANNEX II - (Article 8, 1)

Annex II

SiSU

Regulations concerning the International Haulage of Private Owners' Wagons by Rail (RIP)

The text of this Annex shall be that drawn up by the Committee of Experts, in accordance with Article 69, 4 of the International Convention concerning the Carriage of Goods by Rail (CIM) of 7 February 1970, for the International Regulations concerning the Haulage of Private Owners' Wagons (RIP), Annex IV to the CIM. The Committee of Experts shall also edit the text to bring it into line with the Convention concerning the International Carriage of Goods by Rail of 9 May 1980.

40

527

521

519

ANNEX III - (Article 8, 2)

Annex III

Regulations concerning the International Carriage of Containers by Rail (RICo)

The text of this Annex shall be that drawn up by the Committee of Experts, in accordance with Article 69, 4 of the International Convention concerning the Carriage of Goods by Rail (CIM) of 7 February 1970, for the International Regulations concerning the Carriage of Containers (RICo), Annex V to the CIM. The Committee of Experts shall also edit the text to bring it into line with the Convention concerning the International Carriage of Goods by Rail of 9 May 1980.

ANNEX IV - (Article 8, 3)

Annex IV

Regulations concerning the International Carriage of Express Parcels by Rail (RIEx) 534

1. Only such goods as are carried in a specially rapid manner subject to the conditions of an international tariff shall be deemed to be express parcels. The only goods acceptable as express parcels shall be those which can ordinarily be loaded into the luggage vans of passenger trains. The international tariffs may derogate from this rule.

2. The articles referred to in Article 4 of the Uniform Rules shall not be accepted for carriage as express parcels. The substances and articles enumerated in the RID or thos covered by agreements and tariff clauses drawn up in pursuance of Article 5, 2 of the Uniform Rules shall not be accepted for carriage as express parcels unless that form of carriage is expressly provided for in the RID or such agreements or tariff clauses. The international tariffs shall determine whether other goods may also be treated as unacceptable for carriage or accepted subject to conditions.

530

531

Metadata

SiSU Metadata, document information

Document Manifest @:

<http://www.jus.uio.no/lm/cim.rail.carriage.contract.uniform.rules.19xx/sisu_manifest.html>
Title: Uniform Rules Concerning the Contract for International Carriage of Goods by Rail (CIM)
Creator: CIM
Rights: Copyright (C)[CIM]
Publisher: SiSU http://www.jus.uio.no/sisu (this copy)

Version Information

Sourcefile: cim.rail.carriage.contract.uniform.rules.19xx.sst Filetype: data Source Digest: SHA256(cim.rail.carriage.contract.uniform.rules.19xx.sst)=d1971668526784c8d1cc433413779165-0620dde91ba9a47487daf1aa1e6bb7aa Skin Digest: SHA256(skin_lm.rb)=5acda64a9532f9ef6b71693da2b471d4efac2f23a8499e68de066eec8ea9b8e9

Generated

Document (dal) last generated: Tue Sep 21 16:38:04 -0400 2010 Generated by: SiSU 2.6.3 of 2010w30/3 (2010-07-28) Ruby version: ruby 1.8.7 (2010-08-16 patchlevel 302) [i486-linux]